IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL E. REMETA,)

Defendant/Appellant,)

vs.)

STATE OF FLORIDA,)

Plaintiff/Appellee.)

CASE NO. 69,040

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 Phone: 904/252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 1, 1985 a Grand Jury empaneled in Marion County, Florida, indicted Daniel E. Remeta for the first degree murder of MEHRLE W. REEDER (R2259). 1/2 The murder of Reeder occurred at a gas station/convenience store in Ocala, Florida in the early morning hours of February 8, 1985. Mr. Remeta was apprehended in Kansas five days later on February 13, 1985 following a shootout with Kansas police officers. Mr. Remeta was extradited from Kansas to Florida and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed (R2263-2269).

Before trial defense counsel sought to have Sections 921.141 and 775.072(1), Florida Statutes declared unconstitutional

^{1/ (}R) refers to the Record on Appeal of the instant cause, Supreme Court Case No. 69,040.

in that, for specific reasons delineated in the motions, the statutes violate the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution (R2295-2302). The state filed a Notice of Intent to Offer Evidence of Other Crimes (R2378-2379), to which the defense counsel objected (R2373-2375). The Williams Rule evidence was introduced at trial following a timely objection and proffer (R1657-1695).

Trial commenced May 19, 1986. Defense counsel, after consulting off the record with the defendant who was being held outside the courtroom in a holding cell, waived the defendant's presence during preliminary questioning of the jury venire (R10). The waiver was not personally ratified by the defendant when he was brought to the courtroom.

Following trial Mr. Remeta was found guilty of first-degree murder on the basis of premeditation (R2535). The jury thereafter recommended a sentence of death (R2536). Accordingly, the trial court adjudicated Mr. Remeta guilty of first-degree murder and sentenced him to death (R2552-2554). Findings of fact were made by the trial judge to support imposition of the death sentence, wherein 4 statutory aggravating and at least 4 mitigating circumstances were found to exist (R2548-2551). The Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. Remeta for the purpose of his appeal (R2553,2590), and a timely Notice of Appeal was filed July 2, 1986 (R2592).

The evidence presented at the trial and penalty proceedings establish that Daniel Remeta is 28 years old, but his

mental functioning is that of a 13 year old (R2151,2153). He is is one-fourth Indian (R2160), and one of four children born to a family whose gross income was \$175.00 a month (R2119,2122). The family first lived in a ramshackle, broken down home in rural Kansas (R2165,2173). The home had no running water, many of the fixtures were broken and the neglected children "pretty much ran wild" (R2165,2173-2174,2176). They later moved into a small community that openly displayed hatred toward Indians generally, and the Remeta family specifically (R2126,2166).

Daniel Remeta's parents were alcoholics. Mrs. Remeta at one point was drinking two fifths of Seagrams a day (R2124), and Daniel witnessed fights between his mother and police (R2126) and court officials (R2175). On one occasion Mrs. Remeta, with her young children in the car, parked in front of the courthouse and drank a fifth of vodka, apparently just to antagonize the social workers observing her (R2165). The father used to physically abuse Daniel (R2122). Daniel's uncles, while intoxicated, used to come to the Remeta home in the middle of the night, awaken Daniel and his brother and make them fight, often with weapons; the uncles would bet on the outcome (R2143). Thereafter the uncles and Daniel's father and mother would go into town to drink, leaving the children alone (R2143-2144).

When he was thirteen Daniel Remeta stole two bicycles and fishing poles to give to his brothers because they had none; consequently he was sent to the boys reformatory school (R2127). Since that time the longest period of time that he spent outside a correctional facility was six months (R2149). He became a

"very, very heavy drinker", and "used almost every possible drug, including drugs that he injected as well as some heavier drugs, and marijuana, and consistently has abused drugs all his life" (R2147).

Daniel Remeta was in Florida visiting friends in February, 1985. With him were Lisa Dunn and Mark Hunter. They were on I-75 heading north near Ocala and pulled into a newly opened Tenneco gas station/convenience store (R1524). Daniel Remeta gave many versions of what happened; the following is the version most consistent with the physical evidence at the scene:

- Q.(Investigator King) I would like the whole truth, to be frank with you. I would like it, if you're willing to give it.
- A. (Daniel Remeta) Okay. Well, say if I was just an accessory, could I still get the death penalty in your state or not, though?
- Q. I -- I don't want to answer that because all I am is a fact finder. I'm -- I'm looking for the -- you know, as I said, the truth to this thing.
- A. Okay. Well, I was back here. I was teasing Mark when we was comin' to this place.

Q. Um-hum.

A. 'Cause I didn't think he had enough balls to kill anybody, and when we got inside the store, he kept bragging that he would. He was back -- we was both back here. The man was standing here then, and he asked us if we needed any help and I said no, and I kept asking Mark, "Do you want me to do it?" I said, "Cause I know you, you know, you're too chicken shit to do it." He says, "No, I'll do it," so I gave him the gun. I knew he wasn't gonna do it. He went up there and I just -- I went up

-- then I followed him up there. He had the gun out and I stole two cartons of cigarettes. They was right over here. I walked back to the beer counter and got a twelve-pack and a six-pack. The twelve-pack was Budweiser and the six-pack was Stroh's. When the door wouldn't shut, that's when he was shooting. I had dropped the beer 'cause it kind of -- I thought the guy had shot him 'cause -- because I didn't think he would ever kill anybody.

- O. Um-hum.
- A. After that happened I ran over there -- I think I dropped a carton of cigarettes either here or outside. Then he came out and we just took off.
 - Q. Okay, you handed him the gun?
 - A. Right, a .357.
 - Q. And he did the shooting?
- A. Right. That's why the beer got -- 'cause I thought the guy had shot him at first.
- Q. Okay, you're telling me that you did not do the shooting?
- A. No, I didn't. I didn't do the shooting there.
 - Q. Okay, and that's the truth?
- A. That's the truth. I'll take a polygraph or whatever on it.
- Q. Okay, did you observe Mark do the shooting?
- A. No, I can't say that I seen him pull the trigger, no. I seen the guy when -- when -- after the second shot the guy kind of hit back or something and I told Mark, I says, "Shoot him," and I didn't -- that I didn't know what all was going on or what, so Mark ran behind the counter, kind of. I don't know if he kneeled down or what. Then I heard one or two more shots.

- Q. But you gave Mark --
- A. The gun.
- Q. -- the gun?
- A. Right.
- Q. And did you tell him to kill him?
- A. After I heard the shots, yeah, 'cause I thought the guy was -- uh -- see, Mark was the kind -- I didn't think he was -- I didn't think it was Mark shooting at first.
- Q. Now, get this clear in your mind. Did you -- when you pulled the gun out of your pocket -- was that where it was?
 - A. Right.
 - Q. And you handed it to Mark?
 - A. Right.
- Q. Did you tell Mark to kill the clerk?
- A. No, not then, 'cause we was just going to do the robbery and leave.
- Q. Okay, when did you tell Mark to kill the clerk?
- A. After the clerk was shot, Mark -- 'cause I was thinking that the clerk had shot at Mark, so I told Mark, I says, "Shoot the mother-fucker."
 - Q. Okay.
- A. And that's when he went behind the counter and said, "He's already dead." I says, "Well, shoot him anyways." Then that's when he shot him.
- Q. Okay. All right, after the shooting --
 - A. Uh-huh.

Q. -- what did you do then?

A. Mark ran out and I was standing there. I was trying to decide whether I should pick up the beer, wipe off the fingerprints, or what, and I just said, "Fuck it," and ran out.

(R1520-1523).

On February 8, 1985, just after 1:35 a.m., a woman pulled into the newly opened Tenneco gas station in Ocala, Florida, purchased \$5.00 worth of gas from Mehrle Reeder, and left (R1465-1468). Minutes later Robert Gulich stopped at the Tenneco station to purchase cigarettes (R1273-1276). As he stepped into the store he noticed a broken six-pack of Stroh's Light Beer that had been dropped on the floor (R1277). Thinking that the attendant was in back getting a broom, Gulich waited a few minutes and then proceeded to the counter, where he observed Mehrle Reeder lying on the floor under an opened cash register (R1277-1278). Gulich ran outside, drove across the street and called the police (R1280).

The Ocala police received Gulich's call at 1:53 a.m., and a car was immediately dispatched (R1285-1287). When the police arrived they found that the attendant had been shot four times, twice in the chest through the aorta and pulmonary arteries, and twice in the head after the gunman had moved around the counter (R1436-1437,1451,1462-1464). Reeder's death was caused by the second shot fired as he was falling; it was described by the pathologist as "immediate" (R1437). The bullets recovered from the body of the attendant were from a double-action, .357 Smith and Wesson pistol with a 2½ inch

barrel (R1636-1638). The pistol was recovered in Kansas five days later in the snow at the scene of Daniel Remeta's apprehension (R1592).

An audit indicated that \$50.00 was missing from the cash register (R1404). The last purchase indicated on the cash register tape was for \$.73, the price normally charged by the attendant for Bubble Yum Bubble Gum (R1293,1409). A pack of Bubble Yum was found on the counter of the Tenneco station (R1332). A one dollar bill was visible on top of the attendant's body (R1404). Only small change was left in the cash register (R1295), but over \$130.00 was left undisturbed in an unlocked drawer just under the cash register (R1404).

Remeta's apprehension in Kansas occurred after Larry McFarland, the manager of a Stuckey's gas station situated along I-70 in Kansas, was shot and killed with the .357 Smith and Wesson on February 13, 1985 (R2073). [In reference to this incident Daniel Remeta pled quilty to charges of homicide and aggravated robbery and received two consecutive life sentences (R2073-2074)]. Sheriff Albright began following Remeta's vehicle on Interstate 20; he signalled for Remeta to pull over after the occupants of the car acted suspiciously (R2114-2115). Remeta pulled over on an exit ramp (R2115). Though Daniel Remeta has also claimed responsibility for this shooting (R2105), the sheriff positively identified J.C. Hunter as the fully-bearded person who exited the passenger's side of the automobile and shot him twice (R2115-2117). The same .357 pistol used in Ocala to shoot Reeder was used to shoot Albright (R2083). When J.C.

Hunter, Mark Walter, Lisa Dunn and Daniel Remeta drove off, Sheriff Albright called for assistance on his police radio (R2117,2097-2098).

Remeta's group went to a grain elevator, abducted two men and took their truck (R2105-2108). The men were later made to lay down in the roadway and shot once in the back of the head with the .357 pistol and killed (R2097-2098). [Daniel Remeta pled guilty to these offenses and received two consecutive life terms of imprisonment, with no eligibility for parole for 85 years (R2081)]. The pick-up was later chased into a farmyard by Kansas police and surrounded. In the ensuing shootout, Mark Walter was shot in the head and killed as he was firing at police officers with the .357 pistol (R1595,1826,1854,1892-1895).

Daniel Remeta was shot in the lower back during the shootout (R1623-1625). Lisa Dunn had been shot earlier, apparently when Sheriff Albright was wounded (R1623-1625,2106-2107). J.C. Hunter was apprehended as he ran from the scene (R1857-1858).

Camillia Carroll was employed as a cashier at a Mobile Station in Waskom, Texas (R1701-1702). On February 10, 1985 at approximately 4:00 p.m., Daniel Remeta and Mark Walter entered her store and robbed her at gunpoint (R1703-1705). She was made to accompany them away from the store for a distance of 200-300 feet, where she was shot five times by Daniel Remeta with the same pistol used to shoot Reeder in Ocala (R1705-1711). She testified to the above facts at Remeta's trial over objection. Remeta has not been tried for this incident.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I: The right to testify in your own behalf is a fundamental, personal right guaranteed to every defendant by the First, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. As such a knowing, voluntary, and intentional relinquishment of the known right must be demonstrated on the record before an effective waiver can be said to have occurred. The instant record does not establish such a waiver by the defendant at either the trial or the penalty phase of trial. Because the error cannot be considered harmless, a new trial is required; alternatively, because the error is not harmless as it pertains to the penalty proceeding, a new penalty proceeding is required.

POINT II: The state established that Mehrle Reeder was unlawfully shot and killed on February 8, 1985; the state then introduced two statements made by the defendant in which he admitted guilt for the murder of Reeder. Over objection, the state then presented the cumulative, irrelevant testimony of a young woman who claimed to have been shot five times by the defendant during a convenience store robbery in Texas. Thereafter the state presented yet another confession by the defendant.

Testimony concerning collateral crimes became a feature at trial. It was established that the defendant pled guilty to committing two murders and kidnappings in Kansas, another murder and aggravated robbery in Kansas, and an attempted murder in Kansas. Further, the incident of the defendant's apprehension,

which involved a shootout with police in Kansas, was presented. Testimony of the woman from Texas was cumulative and irrelevant and, even assuming relevance, the marginal probative value of such testimony was substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Because the testimony deprived the defendant of a fair jury recommendation, a new penalty proceeding is required.

POINT III: The right to be present during voir dire of the jury is guaranteed to the defendant in the Sixth Amendment as an element of due process. This Court has held that an attorney may waive his client's presence during critical stages of trial if the defendant subsequently ratifies that waiver either expressly or through acquiescence with actual or constructive notice.

Assuming that such a waiver of the right to be present is legitimate, which is not conceded, the waiver in the instant case by counsel is insufficient because the questioning of the court during voir dire exceeded the topics of which the defendant had knowledge. Accordingly, a new trial is required.

POINT IV: The death penalty in Florida is being arbitrarily and capriciously applied as a result of vague and inspecific statutory language. Decisions of this Court have not provided consistent results under the same or substantially similar facts.

Moreover, this Court has applied the wrong standard in considering the presence of mitigating circumstances. Instead of providing plenary review this Court considers itself bound to an abuse of discretion, sufficiency of evidence standard. Thus, the death

penalty statute in Florida, as applied, violates the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments. The death sentence must be reversed and a sentence of life imprisonment imposed.

POINT V: The proof does not establish that the dominant or sole motive for shooting the service station attendant was to eliminate him as a witness. Other reasons were advanced for Reeder being killed, all of which were plausible. The statement given by Remeta to the effect that he tried to take out all the witnesses does not establish that Reeder was killed for that purpose, because it was not proved that Remeta was the gunman. The aggravating circumstance is invalid and a new sentencing proceeding is required due to the presence of numerous valid mitigating circumstances that were found and weighed by the trial court against an erroneous aggravating circumstance.

POINT VI: The "cold, calculating and premeditated" aggravating circumstance pertains to enhanced deliberation in the killing of another person. The record in the instant case does not establish enhanced premeditation. The trial court's finding of enhanced premeditation to kill the attendant to eliminate him as a witness is already factored into another aggravating circumstance found to exist. Accordingly, further consideration of the same factor constitutes impermissible doubling of aggravating circumstances, making it necessary to vacate the death penalty and order a new sentencing proceeding.

POINT VII: It is unnecessary that a jury sentence a defendant. However, Due Process requires that the jury determine the defendant's quilt or innocence of the crime for which the sentence is imposed. If the verdict does not include elements that define an offense, an increased sentence for that offense cannot be imposed. Further, it is the prosecutor's burden to secure a jury verdict for all elements of the offense. The jury convicted Remeta of first-degree premeditated murder, but not of an offense punishable by the death penalty, as those offenses are defined by the legislature and viewed by this Court. This follows because the death penalty cannot be statutorily imposed without the existence of aggravating circumstances. These aggravating circumstances, limited solely to those specifically provided by statute, actually define the crime of capital first-degree murder that is punishable by death. The aggravating circumstances thus become elements of the crime before the increased sanction of death may be lawfully imposed that must be passed upon by the jury in determining the guilt or innocence of a capital felony.

<u>POINT VIII</u>: The trial judge imposed the \$200.00 court cost against Daniel Remeta (R2552), yet found that Remeta was indigent. (R2555). The cost provision must be vacated because it was imposed in contravention of §27.3455.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SECURE FROM THE DEFENDANT PERSONALLY A KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND INTENTIONAL WAIVER OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO TESTIFY AT TRIAL.

"The question of a waiver of a federally guaranteed constitutional right is, of course, a federal question controlled by federal law. There is a presumption against the waiver of constitutional rights, (citation omitted), and for a waiver to be effective it must be clearly established that there was 'an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or a privilege.' <u>Johnson v. Zerbst</u>, 304 U.S. 458, 464, 82 L.Ed.2d 1461, 1666, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 146 ALR 357." <u>Brookhart v. Janis</u>, 384 U.S. 1, 4, 86 S.Ct. 1245, 16 L.Ed.2d 314, 317 (1966).

The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals has addressed this issue, albeit not in the form of a capital case. See Wright v.

Estelle, 572 F.2d 1071 (5th Cir.), cert. denied 439 U.S. 1004, 99

S.Ct. 617, 58 L.Ed.2d 680 (1978) (Godbold, J., dissenting). That court found that error occurred, but the majority concluded it was harmless under the principles set forth in Chapman v.

California, 386 U.S.18 (1967). The dissenting three judges concluded by stating "I would recognize that the right of the defendant to testify in his own behalf is embraced in our Constitution, that it is fundamental and personal to the defendant, and that it is beyond the reach of the harmless constitutional error rule." 572 F.2d at 1084. (emphasis added).

Though holding that the requirement would not be retroactive, the Supreme Court of Colorado similarly held in

People v. Curtis, 681 P.2d 504 (Colo. 1984) that henceforth in criminal cases the record must demonstrate a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver by the defendant personally of his right to testify. That Court stated:

Several consequences follow from the determination that procedural safeguards are necessary to preserve the right to testify. A waiver is an intentional relinquishment of a known right or privilege. The courts do not presume acquiescence in the loss of fundamental constitutional rights, and therefore indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver. (citations omitted). Waiver of a fundamental right must be voluntary, knowing and intentional.

In order for an accused to make his decision in a voluntary, knowing and intentional manner, he must be aware that he has a right to testify, he must know of the consequences of testifying, and he must be cognizant that he may take the stand notwithstanding the contrary advice of counsel. (citations omitted).

Curtis at 514. (emphasis in original).

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