IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 10 1087

CLERIN

DANIEL E. REMETA,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 69,040

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOSEPH N. D'ACHILLE, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32014 (904) 252-2005

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The trial court's finding that this aggravating circumstance applies to this case is sustained by the record. The fact that the appellant shot Reeder twice in the chest - once as he was falling down - then walked around the counter to execute Reeder with two coup de grace shots to the head area plainly demonstrates that this murder was cold and calculated in the extreme. The circumstances of this crime also evidence the appellant's heightened premeditation. Considering the manner in which the murder was committed together with the appellant's heightened premeditation, this Court should affirm the trial court's finding of this aggravating circumstance. <u>Parker v.</u> <u>State</u>, 476 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1985) [victim stabbed in stomach then shot "execution style" after falling to ground sufficient to establish this aggravating circumstance]; <u>Squires v. State</u>, 450 So.2d 208 (Fla. 1984) [four coup de grace pistol shots to the victim's head sufficient]; <u>Herring</u>, <u>supra</u>, [second shot after victim had fallen to floor sufficient to show heightened premeditation].

As to the appellant's cursory doubling argument, a closer analysis of the "doubling" concept reveals that in this case the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor is not duplicative of the aggravating circumstance of capital felony to avoid lawful arrest. A doubling of aggravating factors occurs when two individual aggravating circumstances are based on the "same aspect" or "feature" of the crime or of the criminal's character. <u>Provence v. State</u>, 337 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1976); <u>Vaught</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Agan v. State</u>, 445 So.2d 326 (Fla. 1983). However, a doubling will not be found in certain circumstances. First,

> [t]here is no reason why the facts in a given case may not support multiple aggravating factors provided the aggravating factors are themselves separate and distinct and not merely restatements of each other

<u>Echols v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 568, 575 (Fla. 1985). Conversely, [w]hile there may well be some overlap on ... two [aggravating circumstances], it is not a complete doubling [if] ... [s]ufficient distinct facts support ... both ... aggravating circumstances.

Suarez v. State, 481 So.2d 1201, 1209 (Fla. 1985).

In determining whether there is an impermissible doubling, this Court may examine the record as well as the order of the trial court. <u>See</u>, <u>Echols</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Hill v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1982).

aggravating circumstances of cold, calculated The and premeditated and murder to avoid а lawful arrest do not substantially overlap. While the aggravating factor of cold, calculated and premeditated applies to contract or executionstyle murders, that classification is not meant to be allinclusive. McCray v. State, 416 So.2d 804 (Fla. 1982). Execution-style murders can be sufficiently distinguished from, and therefore should not be confused with, witness-elimination murders; a murder which is cold and calculated in its manner is distinguishable from a perpetrator's intent to eliminate a Moreover, there are separate and distinct facts to witness. support each aggravating circumstance. The appellant's first two shots to Reeder's chest, each of which could have been fatal, demonstrate the appellant's intent to eliminate a witness; the appellant walking around the counter and plugging Reeder twice more in the head area are cold-blooded execution-style acts which evidence heightened premeditation. The facts supporting these two aggravating circumstances are different and the circumstances themselves do not overlap. Under this analysis, it is evident

that there is no impermissible doubling. Furthermore, the following cases all support the appellee's position that no doubling is present, as in the cases cited both of these aggravating circumstances were upheld: <u>Herring</u>, <u>supra</u> [convenience store robbery/murder]; <u>Burr v. State</u>, 466 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1985) [convenience store robbery/murder]; Clark, supra.

With regard to points five and six, the appellee alternatively argues that a new sentencing determination by the trial judge would not be required if this Court finds that the trial court impermissibly relied upon an aggravating circumstance. As this Court held in Hargrave, supra at 5-6.

> this Court supplies the channeled discretion and deliberation necessary to avert the constitutional deficiencies condemned in Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 2726, 33 L.Ed.2d 346 (1972)....[T]he [Florida death penalty] statute does not comprehend a mere tabulation of aggravating versus mitigating circumstances to arrive at a net sum. It requires a weighing of those circumstances.

This Court has also held that even if a trial court does improperly rely on an aggravating circumstance

> [a]ppellant's contention that this error requires that the death sentence be vacated, however, does not necessarily follow. The error can be harmless if it does not interfere with the weighing process in which the judge is required to engage.

<u>Vaught</u>, <u>supra</u> at 150-151. The appellee submits that applying a harmless error test in this instance is not only constitutionally permissible but clearly appropriate. <u>Barclay v. Florida</u>, 463 U.S. 939, 103 S.Ct. 3418, 77 L.Ed.2d 1134 (1983).

In its order delineating its findings regarding aggravating mitigating circumstances, the trial and court found four aggravating circumstances to exist: prior convictions for capital felonies or felonies involving violence [three first degree murders plus two aggravated kidnappings plus two aggravated robberies plus two aggravated batteries for a total of nine relevant prior convictions]; capital felony committed while the appellant was engaged in a robbery; capital felony committed for the purpose of avoiding a lawful arrest; and capital felony committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, etc.. The trial court also found one statutory and three non-statutory mitigating circumstances:

a. That DANIEL EUGENE REMETA had a mental age of approximately thirteen years. Florida Statute 921.141(5)(g).

Dr. Kropp testified to his opinion of DANIEL EUGENE REMETA's mental age as of the time of the murder of Merhle Reeder.

b. That DANIEL EUGENE REMETA had a deprived childhood, was raised in an unstable, poverty stricken home atmosphere by alcoholic parents and was abused as a child.
c. That DANIEL EUGENE REMETA was of low average to average intelligence and was subject to discrimination because of his race, being American Indian, and his speech impediment.

d. That DANIEL EUGENE REMETA is a long term substance abuser who was institutionalized from age thirteen due to delinquent and criminal behavior.

Dr. Kropp, as well as other witnesses, presented evidence of DANIEL EUGENE REMETA'S childhood, home environment, and social Dr. Kropp testified as acceptance. EUGENE to DANIEL REMETA'S psychological makeup. It should be noted that Dr. Kropp stated that DANIEL EUGENE REMETA was not insane, appreciated the nature of his acts, and had in fact admitted to Dr. Kropp that he in fact killed Merhle Reeder.

(XIV 2548-2551). The trial court concluded that "the aggravating circumstances <u>far</u> <u>outweigh[ed]</u> the mitigating circumstances so that the only appropriate sentence in this cause is death" (XIV 2551). [emphasis supplied].

The finding of an inappropriate aggravating factor would be harmless under the facts of this case as it did not interfere with the trial court's weighing of the relative unimportance of the mitigating circumstances. In light of the appellant's prior convictions, including three other murders, the appellee asserts that that this circumstance alone "far outweigh[s]" the totality of the mitigating factors. See, Stano v. State, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984). The appellee respectfully suggests that the trial court's reliance on an improper aggravating factor would not have affected its imposition of a sentence of death. The appellee would request affirmance as any improper consideration of an aggravating circumstance would be harmless. Hargrave, supra, and Vaught, supra [sentences of death affirmed as improper doubling ruled harmless].

POINT SEVEN

THE DEATH PENALTY WAS NOT IMPOSED AGAINST THE APPELLANT IN VIOLATION OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL AND TO DUE PROCESS AS THE CRITERIA ENUMERATED IN SECTION 921.141(5), FLORIDA STATUTES (1985) ARE SENTENCING CRITERIA NOT WARRANTING INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY DURING THE GUILT PHASE.

The appellant's last attack upon his sentence of death is so convoluted that it is difficult for the appellee to address it in any logical manner. Essentially, the appellant's premise is that the aggravating circumstances enumerated in section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes (1985) are actually essential elements of the crime of "capital first degree murder" as defined by section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1985). From that premise, he hypothesizes that since the jury was not instructed on these aggravating circumstances, they did not return a verdict of guilty for "capital first degree murder". In light of this "verdict", the appellant concludes that the imposition of a sentence of death would violate his rights to a jury trial and to due process as the jury did not consider any aggravating circumstances in rendering its verdict.

There are so many gaping holes in this argument that this Court should deem it utterly without merit. It totally disregards the Florida Legislature's inherent power to define certain conduct as a crime, to classify such conduct by its degree of severity and to affix an appropriate punishment therefor. The appellant's claim, The term "capital crime" is but a convenient label, placing form over substance.

is advanced without any authority to dispute the aforementioned legislative power. [Appellant's Initial Brief, page 43]. Moreover, the appellant should be estopped from raising such an argument as he has already conceded the facial validity of Florida's capital sentencing procedure, a procedure that does not require that the jury be instructed regarding aggravating circumstances during the guilt phase of the trial. <u>See, Proffitt</u> <u>v. Florida, supra.</u>

To begin, the appellee would point out that there is no such crime in the State of Florida as "capital first degree murder". The crime of first degree murder is defined and proscribed in section 782.04(1)(a). That crime is therein classified as a capital felony and the alternative sanctions of life imprisonment without parole eligibility for twenty-five years or death are prescribed in section 775.082(1), Florida Statutes (1985). The appellant misinterprets section 775.082(1) in claiming that former alternative is "the only sanction necessarilv available." Under section 775.082(1), the alternative penalties of life imprisonment or death are mutually exclusive; therefore, to the extent that one of the two alternatives must be selected by the trial judge, the alternative actually chosen is the only one necessarily available. The only legal way to impose either one of those two alternative sentences is to emplov the sentencing procedures mandated in sections 775.082(1) and 782.04(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1985) and described in section 921.141, Florida Statutes (1985).

The appellant's attempt to graft statutory aggravating criteria onto the definiton of first degree murder is logically unsound. For example, the appellant suggests

> Without at least one of these statutory elements being present the death penalty cannot be imposed. These elements thus define the crime for which the death penalty may be imposed.

[Appellant's Initial Brief, page 44]. The appellee asserts that in light of the statutory scheme previously discussed, the appellant's conclusions are patently wrong; the elements of first degree murder are always the same, but the statutory sentencing criteria define when the death penalty may be imposed for that crime.

The bottom line of the appellant's argument is that after he concedes the facial validity of Florida's death penalty statutes, he wants to bastardize the enlightened concept of a bifurcated trial in a capital case. The very basis of bifurcation is to separate the issue of guilt of the crime of first degree murder from the issue of the appropriate sentence. Instructing the jury as to aggravating circumstances during the guilt phase totally confuses those two issues. It also leads to unintended consequences, consequences that the appellant would have to concede would be detrimental to his case.

The appellee assumes <u>arguendo</u> that the statutory aggravating circumstances are elements of the crime that the jury should consider in rendering its verdict. If the jury must consider those aggravating circumstances in rendering its verdict, <u>ipso</u>

- 64 -

facto, it must do so upon evidence. Therefore, under the appellant's argument, the state now has the burden of proving during the guilt phase of the trial that, for example, a defendant was under a sentence of imprisonment, on parole, or had previous convictions for other capital felonies or felonies involving the use or threat of violence to another person. Furthermore, if the state must prove during the guilt phase of the trial that statutory aggravating circumstances exist, the appellee claims that the state is entitled to the relaxed rules of admissibility authorizied under section 921.141(1). The state would then be allowed to bring in any relevant evidence about how heinous, atrocious and cruel or how cold, calculated and premeditated the murder was. If the jury returns a verdict finding that such aggravating circumstances exist, why not just dispense with a review of mitigating factors and make a sentence of death automatic? Clearly, none of the forgoing ramifications of the appellant's arguments are acceptable as they would deprive a defendant of "an informed, focused, guided and objective inquiry into the question whether he should be sentenced to death." Proffitt v. Florida, supra at 96 S.Ct. 2970.

The appellee also asserts that this Court has implicitly rejected the appellant's argument in its decisions holding that aggravating circumstances need not be alleged in the indictment or included in a bill of particulars. <u>e.q.</u>, <u>Sireci</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Tafero v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1981); <u>Medina v. State</u>, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1985); <u>Dufour v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 154 (Fla. 1986); <u>Johnston</u>, <u>supra</u>. If aggravating circumstances need not be alleged in the indictment, they can not be elements of the crime of first degree murder and the jury need not be instructed on them.

The appellee asserts that in enacting section 921.141, the Florida Legislature was enumerating <u>sentencing considerations</u> which need not be considered by a jury during a trial on the issue of guilt. Therefore, the appellant was not deprived of due process or of any right to a trial by jury. <u>See</u>, <u>McMillan v</u>. <u>Pennsylvania</u>, 477 U.S. ____, 106 S.Ct. 2411, 91 L.Ed.2d 67 (1986), citing <u>Spaziano v. Florida</u>, 468 U.S. ____, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984). These sentencing considerations are the very essence of a separate penalty phase proceeding. The law is well settled that this scheme is constitutional, therefore, the appellant's arguments on this issue should be rejected.

POINT EIGHT

THE APPELLANT HAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW THE ISSUE OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ASSESSMENT OF STATUTORY COURT COSTS.

Under section 27.3455, Florida Statutes (1985), a trial court is required to assess statutory court costs; however, if the defendant is indigent, a trial court is required to impose community service. Appellate review of a trial court's failure to impose community service in lieu of costs is not preserved if the defendant does not request the court to review his indigency status. <u>Slaughter v. State</u>, 493 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). The appellant made no such motion below, therefore he has not preserved said issue for review by this Court.

Alternatively, the appellee would ask this Court to note that in addition to the sentence of death imposed in this case the appellant is serving several life sentences in Kansas and will not be eligible for parole on those sentences for another 150 years (XI 2074, 2081). Therefore, the issues of the trial court's failure to impose community service in lieu of costs or of the denial of gain-time for failure to pay the costs imposed are issues controlled by the longstanding doctrine of <u>de minimus</u> non curat lex.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments and authorities discussed herein, the appellee respectfully prays that the appellant's conviction for first degree murder and the sentence of death imposed thereon by the trial court be affirmed in all respects.